
CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   12 
HEARING DATE:   03/01/19 

 
GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS FOR CONTESTING TENTATIVE RULINGS IN DEPT. 12 

 
NOTE PROCEDURE CAREFULLY 

 
The tentative ruling will become the Court’s ruling unless by 4:00 p.m. of the court day preceding 
the hearing, counsel or self-represented parties call the department rendering the decision to 
request argument and to specify the issues to be argued. Calling counsel or self-represented 
parties requesting argument must advise all other affected counsel and self-represented parties by 
no later than 4:00 p.m. of his or her decision to appear and of the issues to be argued. Failure to 
timely advise the Court and counsel or self-represented parties will preclude any party from 
arguing the matter. (Local Rule 3.43(2).) 
 
Note: In order to minimize the risk of miscommunication, Dept. 12 prefers and encourages fax or 
email notification to the department of the request to argue and specification of issues to be 
argued – with a STRONG PREFERENCE FOR EMAIL NOTIFICATION.  Dept. 12’s Fax Number 
is: (925) 608-2693.  Dept. 12’s email address is: dept12@contracosta.courts.ca.gov.  Warning: 
this email address is not be used for any communication with the department except as expressly 
and specifically authorized by the court.  Any emails received in contravention of this order will be 
disregarded by the court and may subject the offending party to sanctions. 
 
 

Submission of Orders After Hearing in Department 12 Cases 
 
The prevailing party must prepare an order after hearing in accordance with CRC 3.1312. If the 
tentative ruling becomes the Court’s ruling, a copy of the Court’s tentative ruling must be 
attached to the proposed order when submitted to the Court for issuance of the order. 
 

 1.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-00422 
CASE NAME: CLARK VS. QASSEM 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR MONETARY AND OTHER SANCTIONS 
FILED BY SETERUS, INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendant Seterus’s discovery motion is granted in part.  Plaintiffs are ordered, forthwith 
(today, March 1, by close of business), to identify all social media accounts each of them uses, 
and provide login and password information for both.  Plaintiffs are also prohibited from deleting 
anything from their social media accounts.  Seterus, however, is ordered not to disclose or 
retain any social media content not directly relevant to whether or not plaintiffs were engaged in 
BHO manufacturing.  Seterus must refrain from reviewing any particular content any further than 
is reasonably required to ascertain whether it is responsive. 
 
This case arises from a tragic explosion occurring during plaintiffs’ uncle’s manufacture of 
butane honey oil, in which plaintiffs were badly burned.  They assert premises liability and 
negligence claims against Seterus.  Among Seterus’s defenses is the allegation that plaintiffs 
were actively involved in the BHO manufacture, thus establishing defense along the lines of 
assumption of risk and unclean hands.  As plaintiffs do not dispute, it is possible that there may 
be posts on their social media accounts that could bear on that allegation. 
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Seterus asked interrogatories concerning plaintiffs’ social media accounts, and plaintiffs 
responded under oath that they had none.  Seterus now establishes, and plaintiffs now 
acknowledge, that in fact they do have such accounts.  Their proffered excuse is that their 
mother and guardian ad litem, Tracy Clark, was in charge of discovery responses, and she 
believed there were no social media accounts.  That would likely represent insufficient diligence 
on her part even if it were true.  Seterus, however, also provides convincing evidence that Tracy 
Clark in fact knew full well that the social media accounts existed, and just lied when she said 
they didn’t – and lied again when she said she had believed they didn’t. 
 
Plaintiffs now offer to provide all social media posts, if any, relating to the incident (presumably 
including anything bearing on plaintiffs’ participation in BHO manufacture).  They argue that it is 
abusive for Seterus to seek now to look through their entire social media accounts, rather than 
obtaining only the content relevant to this case.  The argument would be a very good one in 
other circumstances.  But the Court agrees that Seterus can hardly be expected to trust 
plaintiffs’ review and selection of relevant materials from their accounts, given their track record 
on this score so far.  Seterus must now be allowed to look for itself.  However, as noted above, 
Seterus is also ordered to retain and disclose only that content (if any) that does reasonably 
bear on the purpose for which it says it wants to search the accounts. 
 
The Court awards sanctions of $2,000, payable by plaintiffs to counsel for Seterus within 30 
days of service of an Order After Hearing hereon.  The sanctions may be offset against the 
sanctions ordered on February 1 running from Seterus to plaintiffs.  The Court agrees with 
plaintiffs that their refusal to agree to wholesale inspection of their social media accounts is 
legitimately arguable.  But it also agrees with Seterus that plaintiffs should be sanctioned for 
having misrepresented the facts concerning social media. 
 

  

 2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-02262 
CASE NAME: STEINHART VS. CHEVRON 
HEARING ON APPLICATION FOR DETERMINATION OF GOOD FAITH SETTLEMENT 
FILED BY BRAND ENERGY SERVICES 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Brand Energy Services applies for a determination of good-faith settlement.  The application is 
unopposed, and it is approved. 
 

  

 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-02262 
CASE NAME: STEINHART VS. CHEVRON 
HEARING ON APPLICATION FOR ORDER TO SEAL REFERENCES TO SETTLEMENT 
FILED BY BRAND ENERGY SERVICES OF CALIFORNIA 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Brand Energy Services has filed a document titled “Application For An Order To Seal 
References To Settlement Amount With Plaintiff”, referring to some document supposedly 
lodged under seal with the Court.  In fact, the file contains no such lodging under seal, and the 
Court does not recall anything of the kind being proffered.  Nor does the application present any 
compelling justification for secrecy.  The application may be moot, but if not, it is refused. 
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 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00862 
CASE NAME: KOSI VS. LITTMAN 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION OF ORDER SUSTAINING DEMURRER 
FILED BY JOHN A. KOSI, DIANA L. KOSI 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Plaintiffs’ motion for reconsideration is denied. 
 
Preliminary Matters: 
 

 RJN.  Plaintiffs’ request for judicial notice is denied.  The subject bankruptcy court 
documents are not relevant to the narrow issue before the Court: whether 
reconsideration should be granted. 
 

 Plaintiffs’ Papers.  Plaintiffs’ papers suffer from various defects.  The third page of the 
notice of motion, presumably containing a statement of the relief requested and the 
signature block of plaintiffs’ counsel, is missing.  The opening memorandum is 20 pages 
long, without leave of court and without a table of authorities.  (CRC 3.1113(d) and (f).)  
The deposition excerpts submitted with the reply papers are set out within the text of 
counsel’s declaration, rather than in the manner prescribed by the Rules of Court.  
(CRC 3.1116.)  The Court has exercised its discretion to consider plaintiffs’ papers 
despite these defects. 
 

 The Trust.  Defendant Michael Littman appears in his capacity as the co-trustee of the 
Littman Trust.  For ease of reference, the Court will refer to the Trust as if it were a 
separate legal entity.  (Cf. Galdjie v. Darwish (2003) 113 Cal.App.4th 1331, 1343 
[“[u]nlike a corporation, a trust is not a legal entity”].)  
 

 Timeliness.  The Trust’s timeliness objection is overruled.  Due to a dispute over the 
form of the order after hearing, the order sustaining the Trust’s demurrer to the First 
Amended Complaint was not entered until January 18, 2019. 

 
Relief Sought.  Plaintiffs seek reconsideration of the Court’s January 26, 2018 ruling sustaining 
the Trust’s demurrer to the First Amended Complaint.  However, the precise scope of the relief 
sought is somewhat obscure, given the incompleteness of the notice of motion and the absence 
of a proposed order.  Based on the supporting memoranda, the Court understands plaintiffs to 
be seeking the following relief: 
 

 Plaintiffs would be allowed to file a Third Amended Complaint adding amended causes 
of action for violation of the Rosenthal Act and the Unfair Competition Law, formerly the 
Seventh and Eighth Causes of Action. 
 

 Plaintiffs would not be bound by the Court’s ruling that plaintiffs failed to allege facts 
showing causation for purposes of plaintiffs’ fraud and negligent misrepresentation 
causes of action, formerly the First and Second Causes of Action. 
 

Plaintiffs’ Legal Theories.  Both sides address the bulk of their argument to the legal merits of 
the proposed amended causes of action.  However, the Court is in no position to address those 
arguments, because plaintiffs have not provided the Court with the proposed Third Amended 
Complaint.  If the Court were to grant plaintiffs’ motion for reconsideration, the Court would 
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address the merits of the amended causes of action in the context of a demurrer or a motion for 
judgment on the pleadings.  (Cf. Atkinson v. Elk Corp. (2003) 109 Cal.App.4th 739, 760 [“we 
believe that the better course of action would have been to allow [the plaintiff] to amend the 
complaint and then let the parties test its legal sufficiency in other appropriate proceedings”].) 
 
New Facts.  There was no competent evidence of new facts submitted with the opening papers.  
With the reply papers, plaintiffs belatedly provide excerpts from the deposition of defendant 
Robert Fitzstephens.  However, plaintiffs offer no reasoned analysis demonstrating that those 
deposition excerpts justify a reconsideration of the Court’s prior rulings concerning the 
Rosenthal Act and UCL causes of action.  Further, plaintiffs do not demonstrate why the facts 
plaintiffs now rely on could not have been ascertained prior to the January 2018 ruling on the 
demurrer.  (See Garcia v. Hejmadi (1997) 58 Cal.App.4th 674, 690 [the moving party is held to 
“a strict requirement of diligence”].)  The Court finds that reconsideration is not justified by new 
facts. 
 
New Law.  Plaintiffs cite the Davidson decision, issued on March 13, 2018, as new law.  (See 
Davidson v. Seterus, Inc. (2018) 21 Cal.App.5th 283.)  This decision held as follows: 
 

We therefore conclude that the Rosenthal Act's definition of “debt collector” 
applies to a mortgage servicer who engages in debt collection practices in 
attempting to obtain repayment of mortgage debt, and that the trial court 
improperly sustained defendants' demurrer on the ground that the Rosenthal Act 
does not apply to mortgage servicers. 

 
(21 Cal.App.5th at 304.)  The Court finds that this new law does not justify reconsideration for 
the following reasons. 
 
The Rosenthal Act.  The Court sustained the Trust’s demurrer to the former Rosenthal Act 
cause of action on the following ground: 
 

7th C/A (Rosenthal Act).  In support of their cause of action for violation of the 
California Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, plaintiffs have failed to 
allege any activity on defendants’ part that is independent of a nonjudicial 
foreclosure.  Simply warning plaintiffs that they were in default under a loan 
secured by a deed of trust, or that they would be in default if they failed to make 
timely payments, can only be regarded as activity taken in anticipation of invoking 
the right to initiate nonjudicial foreclosure.  Accordingly, plaintiffs have failed to 
state a viable Rosenthal Act cause of action.  (Cf. Fonteno v. Wells Fargo Bank, 
N.A. (2014) 228 Cal.App.4th 1358, 1375 [“a person engaging only in activities 
leading towards a foreclosure sale as required by California law is not a ‘debt 
collector’ under the FDCPA”].  See also Hamilton v. Bank of Blue Valley (E.D. 
Cal. 2010) 746 F.Supp.2d 1160, 1176-77 [nonjudicial foreclosure is not debt 
collection for purposes of the Rosenthal Act]; Jensen v. Quality Loan Serv. Corp. 
(E.D. Cal. 2010) 702 F.Supp.2d 1183, 1200; Sipe v. Countrywide Bank (E.D. Cal. 
2010) 690 F.Supp.2d 1141, 1151-52.) 

 
In light of this ruling, the Court need not reach the more complicated question of 
whether the Rosenthal Act cause of action is barred by the applicable one-year 
statute of limitations. 
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This ruling is not affected by the Davidson decision because, as Davidson itself acknowledges, 
the Court of Appeal expressly did not consider the question of what activities qualify as debt 
collection by a mortgage servicer: 
 

We have no need to consider, in this case, whether a mortgage lender or 
mortgage servicer may be sued under the Rosenthal Act for any activity that the 
mortgage servicer undertakes with respect to a mortgage, or only for those 
activities that are not part of the ordinary foreclosure process.  [Italics in original.]  
This case does not involve foreclosure allegations, and the parties have raised 
no contention with respect to the sufficiency of the complaint with respect to the 
activities alleged in the complaint.  Rather, the sole issue raised by the parties 
with respect to the Rosenthal Act is whether a mortgage lender or servicer comes 
within the Rosenthal Act's definition of “debt collector.” 

 
(Davidson, 21 Cal.App.5th at 301 n.14.)  Thus, assuming for purposes of argument that the 
Trust was a debt collector, the law cited in the prior ruling quoted above provides that the Trust 
is still not liable under the Rosenthal Act insofar as it was simply pursuing a nonjudicial 
foreclosure.  (Compare Davidson, 21 Cal.App.5th at 290 [the mortgage servicer “started making 
harassing and annoying telephone calls”].) 
 
Plaintiffs now offer to allege facts showing debt collection activity on the part of the Trust 
independent of the nonjudicial foreclosure, beginning before the commencement of plaintiff 
Diana Kosi’s bankruptcy in 2016.  However, these facts were freely available to plaintiffs in 
January 2018.  Plaintiffs’ ability to allege these facts in the original Complaint or the First 
Amended Complaint has nothing to do with the publication of the Davidson decision in 
March 2018. 
 
The UCL.  The Court sustained the Trust’s demurrer to the former UCL cause of action on the 
following grounds: 
 

8th C/A (UCL).  The Eighth Cause of Action is for violation of the Unfair 
Competition Law.  (See, Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 17200 et seq.)  However, plaintiffs 
have failed to allege their right to a remedy authorized by the UCL.  (See, Bus. & 
Prof. Code, §§ 17203, 17204; Korea Supply Co. v. Lockheed Martin Corp. (2003) 
29 Cal.4th 1134, 1150 [damages not recoverable].)  Plaintiffs cite no legal 
authority supporting the proposition that the Court has power under the UCL to 
order the rescission of a contract, or “to remove or reduce the judicial liens 
encumbering the [sale] proceeds.”  (FAC, ¶ 269 and ¶ 270.) 
 
As a second, independent ground for the Court’s ruling, the Court finds that the 
Eighth Cause of Action is egregiously “uncertain.”  (Code Civ. Proc., § 430.10(f).)  
Defendant Littman Trust should not be required to defend a scattershot, 270-
paragraph cause of action with no clear focus other than a contractual dispute 
concerning a late penalty. 

 
These two grounds, the failure to allege an available UCL remedy and uncertainty, are not 
affected by Davidson.  Even if plaintiffs had alleged a qualifying illegal act, the grounds on which 
the demurrer was sustained would still be valid. 
 
Causation.  The Court sustained the Trust’s demurrer to the former fraud and negligent 
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misrepresentation causes of action on two independent grounds.  The second of these was 
as follows: 

 
The Court also concurs with defendant’s argument that the alleged chain of 
causation is too speculative to support a fraud cause of action.  (See Williams v. 
Wraxall (1995) 33 Cal.App.4th 120, 132 [“[a] ‘complete causal relationship’ 
between the fraud or deceit and the plaintiff's damages is required”].)  The Infiniti 
refinancing would have required an appraisal of $1,635,000, and plaintiffs do not 
allege facts indicating that they ever received an appraisal anywhere near that 
figure.  (FAC, ¶ 100.)  The only substantive allegations concerning the fair market 
value of the subject residence is that plaintiffs listed it for $ 1,250,000 in June 
2016, and sold it for approximately $ 1,000,000 in January 2017.  (FAC, ¶ 135 
and ¶ 138.)  Further, the Infiniti refinancing was conditioned on defendant Robert 
Fitzstephens agreeing to subordinate the Windeler junior deed of trust, and 
plaintiffs fail to allege any binding agreement on the part of Fitzstephens 
to subordinate.  To the contrary: plaintiffs affirmatively allege that Fitzstephens 
only “dangled the subordination agreement to cause delay.”  (FAC, ¶ 106.)  There 
are equivalent causation problems with the proposed FHA refinancing 
arrangement. 

 
Plaintiffs have offer no reasoned argument concerning how the Davidson decision would justify 
a reconsideration of this ruling: the causation element of fraud has nothing to do with the 
Rosenthal Act. 
 

  

 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01760 
CASE NAME: NEWSONE VS. SUTTER DELTA 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 
FILED BY SUTTER EAST BAY HOSPITALS 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Plaintiff has dismissed this case. 

  

 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-00212 
CASE NAME: HEFFERNAN VS. LEVINSKY 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 
FILED BY DEBRA LEVINSKY 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The Court continues the hearing on this Motion to April 19, 2019 so that Plaintiff’s counsel can 
refer the case to other counsel, the necessity of which is indicated by the Declaration of Allan M. 
Tabor. 
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 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-01290 
CASE NAME: SCHOLAR VS. PLEASANT HILL COIN 
HEARING ON MOTION TO BE RELIEVED AS COUNSEL 
FILED BY AURELIA SCHOLAR 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Counsel to appear in person for an in camera conference on grounds for withdrawal.  Plaintiff 
is invited to attend if she chooses. 
 

  

 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-02150 
CASE NAME: SMUTNY VS. SELECT PORTFOLIO 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT 
FILED BY SELECT PORTFOLIO SERVICING 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
This is a wrongful foreclosure case.  Defendant Select Portfolio demurs to the entire complaint.  
The demurrer was continued by agreement to enable plaintiff to find an attorney, but no attorney 
has appeared for him.  Plaintiff has filed no opposition to the demurrer. 
 
The demurrer is sustained with leave to amend.  Plaintiff may file and serve a First Amended 
Complaint by April 2, 2019. 
 
First Cause of Action (Civil Code §§ 2923.5, 2923.55).  Leaving aside the question of which of 
these two statutes applies (one being on the books in 2018, the other in 2019), the only violation 
alleged is that Select did not give plaintiff notice that he could request various documents.  The 
allegation of harm to plaintiff resulting from this lack of notice is in ¶ 16(a)(1):  “The failure to 
provide Plaintiff with the following [sic] information, prevented Plaintiff from being made aware of 
Defendants’ unlawful conduct in a timely manner; from filing a lawsuit in a timely manner; 
thereby forcing Plaintiff to incur excessive fees, costs, and interests all to the benefit of 
Defendants.  Clearly, Plaintiff has been prejudiced as a result of such violation as they [sic] have 
been subjected to the foreclosure process.” 
 
This allegation is very nearly self-impeaching.  Plaintiff contends that the missing notice was 
supposed to be given with the Notice of Default (NOD), on September 18, 2018.  But this lawsuit 
was filed on October 25, 2018, less than six weeks later, and it alleges that plaintiff had all the 
rights he claims he wasn’t told he had.  How much better “timely manner” would the missing 
notice have provided?  And how did the asserted time gap harm plaintiff in any concrete way? 
 
Plaintiff alleges conclusorily that the failure of timely notice caused him to “incur excessive fees, 
costs and interests”, but he doesn’t say what fees, costs or interest, nor does he give any hint as 
to how a more timely notice would have allowed him to avoid them.  Still less does he allege 
how a more timely notice would have allowed him to avoid “being subjected to the foreclosure 
process”.  On the contrary, the missing notice was assertedly supposed to be given with the 
NOD – which was itself what put plaintiff into the “foreclosure process”. 
 
Second Cause of Action (SPOC).  Plaintiff alleges that Select violated Civil Code § 2923.7 by 
failing to provide a single point of contact (SPOC).  In fact, the complaint alleges that Select did 
provide an SPOC, though not one that performed adequately.  What’s missing, however, is any 
allegation of how this violation, if it was one, was material, as required by § 2924.12(a),(b).  
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Unless plaintiff can allege and prove that provision of a better SPOC would have resulted in 
actual success in obtaining a loan modification, the asserted violation is not material and 
therefore cannot support a cause of action.  That is not alleged.  Again, there is a conclusory 
allegation that the violation has resulted in some unspecified fees, costs ,and interest; but again, 
there is no allegation of how the ineffective SPOC brought about the fees etc. 
 
Third Cause of Action (Breach of Contract).  The contract alleged here is the Deed of Trust – to 
which, however, Select is not a party.  That aside, the only breach alleged is the failure to inform 
plaintiff of his right to sue to assert defenses to acceleration.  But plaintiff has in fact filed just 
such a lawsuit.  So where are the alleged damages or harm from the asserted breach? 
 
Fourth Cause of Action (Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing).  Again, this count rests on 
the existence of the Deed of Trust as a contract – but again, Select is not a party to that 
contract.  Beyond that, the count rests on a laundry list of asserted failures or unlawful acts.  
Those various failures or unlawful acts (e.g., “unlawfully forcing Plaintiff into the foreclosure 
process”) are elaborated on elsewhere in the complaint – but as the rest of this ruling shows, 
none is sufficient to withstand demurrer as presently alleged, so none will support a covenant-
of-good-faith claim either.  Further, there is no allegation of how these violations or failures have 
harmed plaintiff. 
 
Fifth Cause of Action (Negligence).  This is mostly a tort wrapping around the same 
misdeeds inadequately alleged in other counts.  The only new feature is the allegation of 
“losing documents”.  But there is no allegation of what documents were lost, or how their loss 
has harmed plaintiff. 
 
Sixth and Seventh Causes of Action (Misrepresentation).  The only misrepresentation alleged is 
Select’s refusal to accept a late payment in June 2018, which plaintiff repackages as an 
incorrect “representation” that there was no grace period.  That is an alleged statement of law, 
not a misrepresentation of fact.  In any event, plaintiff does not allege how he relied on any such 
misrepresentation to his detriment. 
 
Ninth, Tenth, and Eleventh Causes of Action (Quiet Title, Slander of Title, and Cancellation).  
These counts all rest on the premise that the NOD was false or defective.  But plaintiff 
acknowledges that he was in default, and had been for some time.  His theories elsewhere in 
the complaint as to why the NOD was “false” are addressed above. 
 
Eighth and Twelfth Causes of Action (Declaratory Relief and § 17200).  These causes of 
action are derivative of the other theories alleged in the complaint, and thus cannot stand when 
they fall. 
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 9.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-02190 
CASE NAME: RODRIGUEZ VS. CALIBER 
HEARING ON MOTION TO STRIKE PARTS OF THE 1st Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY CALIBER HOME LOANS INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendant moves to strike several portions of the First Amended Complaint, relating to elements 
of the damages sought.  In Line 10, however, the Court is sustaining defendant’s demurrer to 
the entire pleading.  It is therefore unnecessary and premature to be addressing what damages 
may or may not be asserted in whatever causes of action may be pleaded in the next version of 
plaintiffs’ complaint.  This motion is therefore denied as moot for the time being, without 
prejudice to repetition of the same arguments if and when they are relevant to the next pleading. 
 

  

10.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-02190 
CASE NAME: RODRIGUEZ VS. CALIBER 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY CALIBER HOME LOANS INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendant Caliber Home Loans, Inc. demurs to the First Amended Complaint (FAC).  The 
demurrer is sustained as to all causes of action.  The demurrer is sustained without leave to 
amend as to the 1st, 4th, 8th, and 12th causes of action. Leave to amend is granted as to all 
other causes of action. 

Plaintiffs may file and serve a second amended complaint by March 29, 2019. 

Background 

Plaintiffs purchased the subject property, located at 6261 South 13th Street in Richmond, on 
September 9, 2015.  According to the Grant Deed, Plaintiff Gabriel O. Rodriguez, a single man, 
had an undivided 75% interest and Plaintiffs Jamie R. Rodriguez and Amanda Martinez, 
husband and wife, as joint tenants, had an undivided 25% interest in the real property.   

Plaintiffs allege they financed the Subject Property through Defendant Caliber Home Loans in 
the amount of $255,000, secured by a Deed of Trust. The Subject Property was sold at a 
Trustee’s Sale on April 10, 2018.  Plaintiffs allege they were making their monthly payments on 
time.  Plaintiffs allege they never received a Notice of Default or a Notice of Trustee’s Sale 
before the foreclosure sale.  Plaintiffs learned of the foreclosure when served with an unlawful 
detainer action.  Plaintiff filed this action alleging 14 causes of action, including wrongful 
foreclosure, violation of HBOR, fraud-based causes of action, and breach of contract, among 
several other causes of action.   

A word is in order concerning plaintiffs’ repeated allegations that they were not in default and 
had been making all their payments in full.  The original complaint likewise alleged that fact, but 
it was contradicted by their own bank records, attached as Exhibit B to the original complaint.  
The bank records appear to show that some of the payments made were well below the amount 
due.  “Exhibits attached to the complaint take precedence to the extent they contradict 
allegations in the complaint.” (Bank of New York Mellon v. Citibank, N.A. (2017) 8 Cal.App.5th 
935, 943.) 
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The FAC does not attach the bank records, but it offers no explanation as to why those 
previously pleaded records can be reconciled with the present allegation of payment in full.  The 
policy against sham pleadings requires the pleader to explain the omission, otherwise the 
defective allegations of the original pleading will also be read into the amended pleading.  
(Wennerholm v. Stanford University School of Medicine (1942) 20 Cal.2d 713, 716.) 

Accordingly, for present purposes the Court must disregard the FAC’s allegations that plaintiffs 
were making their payments and were not in default.  If plaintiffs have an explanation as to how 
they were not in default, they can include it in any further amended pleadings. 

1st Cause of Action (Declaratory Relief) 

The demurrer to the First Cause of Action for Declaratory Relief is sustained without leave to 
amend. 

Plaintiffs allege an actual controversy has arisen with respect to Plaintiffs’ and Defendant’s 
rights concerning the subject property.  Plaintiffs contend Defendant did not comply with the 
statutory prerequisites for conducting a foreclosure sale and “no default giving rise to a right to 
sell existed.”  (FAC, ¶16.) 

Code of Civil Procedure § 1060 provides that “[a]ny person … who desires a declaration of his 
or her rights or duties with respect to another … in cases of actual controversy relating to the 
legal rights and duties of the respective parties, [to] bring an original action … for a declaration 
of his or her rights and duties ….”  “‘[Declaratory] procedure operates prospectively, and not 
merely for the redress of past wrongs.  It serves to set controversies at rest before they lead to 
repudiation of obligations, invasion of rights or commission of wrongs; in short, the remedy is to 
be used in the interests of preventive justice, to declare rights rather than execute them.’ 
[Citation.]”  (Babb v. Superior Court (1971) 3 Cal.3d 841, 848.) 

Plaintiffs seek a judicial determination of their rights and declarations that neither Defendant nor 
its successor had a right to institute the foreclosure proceedings.  The foreclosure sale took 
place on April 10, 2018.  Declaratory relief operates prospectively, and not merely for the 
redress of past wrongs. Declaratory relief requires "an actual, present controversy over a proper 
subject." (Californians for Native Salmon and Steelhead Ass'n v. Department of Forestry (1990) 
221 Cal. App. 3d 1419, 1427.)  “Since the property has been sold, there remain no prospective 
claims appropriate for declaratory relief.” (Mendoza v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (2016) 6 
Cal.App.5th 802, 820.) 

The question posed by a declaratory relief claim in this situation, therefore, is:  a declaration as 
to what?  A declaration that defendants owe money damages to plaintiffs?  That’s not how 
declaratory relief works.  Plaintiffs are suing for those same damages in their other causes of 
action.  But they seek no other relief.  A complaint that seeks only money damages can simply 
seek money damages; it cannot seek a “declaratory judgment” as to purely retrospective relief 
such as money damages. 

2nd Cause of Action (Wrongful Foreclosure) 

The demurrer to the Second Cause of Action for Wrongful Foreclosure is sustained with leave to 
amend. 

Plaintiffs allege Defendant Caliber wrongfully foreclosed on their property by failing to comply 
with procedural requirements for the foreclosure sale.  Plaintiffs allege Caliber had no rights to 
the foreclosure sale as Defendant Caliber violated Civil Code §§ 2923.5 (failed to contact to 
assess borrower’s financial situation); 2923.6 (failed to offer loan modification); 2923.7 (failed to 
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provide a single point of contact); and 2924 (failed to give summary of the notice of default).  As 
is discussed as to the following three causes of action, however, plaintiffs have not adequately 
alleged freestanding causes of action as to any of them. 

Defendant’s demurrer to this cause of action argues as though it were pleaded as an equitable 
claim to set aside the foreclosure sale.  It raises a number of asserted defects in such an 
equitable claim, such as the absence of tender.  But it does not appear from the FAC that that is 
the claim really being asserted here.  Nowhere, including in the prayer, does the FAC request 
any equitable relief; plaintiffs are simply suing for damages and related monetary relief. 

This cause of action, therefore, appears to be nothing more than an aggregation of the 3d, 4th, 
and 5th causes of action, thrown together into a single basket called “wrongful foreclosure”.  
That is not necessarily pointless; it could be arguable that the aggregation of multiple procedural 
violations had a greater prejudicial effect than any one of them had separately.  But that 
assumes that there are adequate allegations of the underlying violations, as well as allegations 
as to their prejudicial effects, separately or in aggregation.  The FAC does not contain such 
allegations. 

3d Cause of Action (§ 2923.5) 

The demurrer to the Third Cause of Action is sustained with leave to amend. 

Civil Code § 2923.5 provides that the mortgage servicer shall not record a notice of default until 
after the borrower has been contacted in person or by telephone in order to assess the 
borrower’s financial situation and explore options for the borrower to avoid foreclosure. Plaintiffs 
allege that defendant did not comply because the borrower was never contacted via telephone 
or in person.  (FAC, ¶ 36.) 

Defendant’s demurrer rests principally on the Declaration of Compliance attached to the Notice 
of Default.  Tracking the statutory language, it states conclusorily that “[t]he mortgage servicer 
has tried with due diligence to contact the borrower as required by California Civil Code 
§ 2923.55(f) but has not made contact despite such due diligence.  The due diligence efforts 
were satisfied on 09/15/2017.)”  (Defendant’s RJN, Exh. 3, p.4)  That is hardly sufficient to 
defeat this claim at the pleading stage.  It may be true, as the declaration asserts, that 
defendant made sufficient due-diligence efforts to contact plaintiffs.  But the mere fact that 
defendant says so in its notice of default does not conclusively prove it to be true. 

Defendant has a point, however, that the statutory requirement is satisfied either if there is 
actual contact, or if there is sufficient diligence to try to make contact.  The FAC alleges the 
absence of actual contact, but not the absence of diligent efforts.  Granted, without discovery 
plaintiffs are likely in no position to allege the negative of no diligence in detail; but they can 
allege it, for example, on information and belief, and then conduct discovery appropriately. 

There is another, more serious problem with this cause of action, however:  It does not allege 
that any violation of § 2923.5 was material, as is required by Civil Code § 2924.12(a),(b) for a 
viable cause of action.  It does not allege, for example, that if plaintiffs had been timely 
contacted, they would have sought some form of modification or relief from foreclosure.  Much 
less does it allege that if they had sought such relief, they would have succeeded in obtaining it. 

Presumably plaintiffs’ theory in the FAC would be that because they weren’t in actual default, 
upon notice of default they could have pointed out to the lender that they weren’t in default.  But 
as is discussed above, the present state of the pleadings belies the allegation of non-default. 
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In their second cause of action, plaintiffs invoke Sciaratta v. U.S. Bank (2016) 247 Cal.App.4th 
552, for the principle that losing one’s home to foreclosure is itself an adequate form of prejudice 
to support a cause of action for wrongful foreclosure.  That overstates the holding of that case 
and ignores its basis.  At issue in Sciaratta was a foreclosure conducted by an entity that had 
not established that it was the debt holder.  Such an entity would have no right to foreclose at 
all, no matter how scrupulously it might observe all the statutorily required procedural 
formalities.  Hence, such a foreclosure would be wrongful no matter what. 

But here, there is no suggestion that defendant Caliber was not the proper party to conduct a 
foreclosure.  If it committed any procedural violations in doing so, therefore, one must look at 
whether the violations changed the ultimate outcome.  “‘A nonjudicial foreclosure sale is 
presumed to have been conducted regularly and fairly; one attacking the sale must overcome 
this common law presumption ‘by pleading and proving an improper procedure and the resulting 
prejudice.’ [Citation.]  Prejudice is not presumed from ‘mere irregularities in the process.’ 
[Citation.]”  (Kalnoki v. First American Trustee Servicing Solutions, LLC (2017) 8 Cal.App.5th 23, 
48.)  In other words, if the foreclosure would have occurred with or without the procedural 
violations, then the violations are the proverbial “no harm, no foul”, and pleading the violations 
themselves is insufficient to plead that the violations are material. 

4th Cause of Action (§ 2923.6) 

The demurrer to the Fourth Cause of Action is sustained without leave to amend. 

Plaintiffs alleged Defendant violated Civil Code § 2923.6 by failing to act in the best interest of 
the borrower and by failing to offer plaintiffs a loan modification before foreclosing on the subject 
property.  But this statute does not create any duty running to borrowers; it certainly does not 
create any obligation to act as a fiduciary on behalf of the borrowers’ best interests. 

 Civil Code § 2923.6 states, “The Legislature finds and declares that any duty mortgage 
servicers may have to maximize net present value under their pooling and servicing agreements 
is owed to all parties in a loan pool, or to all investors under a pooling and servicing agreement 
... and that a mortgage servicer acts in the best interests of all parties to the loan pool or 
investors in the pooling and servicing agreement if it agrees to or implements a loan 
modification or workout plan…”  There is nothing in the language requiring the mortgage 
servicer to act in the best in of the borrower or that the borrower has a cause of action for failure 
to do so. 

5th Cause of Action (§ 2923.7) 

The demurrer to the Fifth Cause of Action is sustained with leave to amend. 

Civil Code § 2923.7 requires that a single point of contact (SPOC) be appointed when the 
borrower requests a foreclosure prevention alternative.  Plaintiffs allege that defendant failed to 
comply by directing Plaintiffs to multiple agents.  There are several problems with the claim. 

First, the SPOC requirement applies only “[w]hen a borrower requests a foreclosure prevention 
alternative”.  Plaintiffs do not allege that they ever made such a request.  On the contrary, given 
their allegations that they did not know a default or foreclosure was contemplated, and their 
(problematic) allegations that they were not in default, it seems unlikely that they did make any 
such request. 

Second, the allegations are a little indeterminate as to whether there was or wasn’t an SPOC.  
As defendant points out, the statute allows for the possibility of a “team of personnel” as an 
SPOC, § 2923.7(e).  It does not follow, however, that the “multiple agents” alleged in the FAC 
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would necessarily constitute such a team SPOC, as defendant seems to argue.  Whether they 
are or aren’t depends on facts not sufficiently brought out by either side, such as whether every 
member of the team had the requisite authority to act as required by subdivision (e). 

And again, this cause of action raises the problem of materiality.  Not only is there no allegation 
that plaintiffs would have succeeded in avoiding disclosure with proper procedures; but more 
pointedly, there is no allegation that the lack of an SPOC was the key problem causing them to 
fail to get a foreclosure prevention alternative. 

6th Cause of Action (§ 2924) 

Caliber’s demurrer to the Sixth Cause of Action is sustained with leave to amend. 

Civil Code § 2924(f) requires that a “separate document containing a summary of the notice of 
default information … shall be attached to the notice of default provided to the mortgagor or 
trustor”.  Plaintiffs allege that defendant did not give any proper notice, let alone a summary of 
default information.  (FAC, ¶ 48.)  The absence of any notice is already addressed in plaintiffs’ 
second cause of action, see above.  Given their allegation that they never got the notice of 
default at all, however, it is hard to see how any further or additional prejudice to them could 
have resulted from the fact that the notice they didn’t receive was incomplete in not having the 
required separate document attached.  If it had been attached, what difference would it have 
made? 

7th Cause of Action (Intentional Misrepresentation) 

The demurrer to the Seventh Cause of Action is sustained with leave to amend, though only on 
narrow grounds. 

Plaintiffs allege that a representative of defendant, identified only as John, falsely represented 
that a foreclosure sale would not take place.  They allege that this was false when stated 
because defendant was already in the process of foreclosing when the statement was made.  
They allege that they relied on this statement by not seeking an alternative solution. 

The demurrer is sustained because plaintiffs do not adequately allege who John was or what 
authority he had to speak for defendant.  They may need discovery to pin this down with 
precision, but they should at least allege who they understood John to be and what they 
understood about his authority to speak. 

The Court is unimpressed with defendant’s other attacks on this claim, however, at least on the 
present allegations.  While no specific date is alleged, plaintiffs do pin down the time frame as 
while the foreclosure was in progress, which is sufficient as an initial pleading matter.  They also 
allege reliance.  Defendant argues that because plaintiffs thought they weren’t in default, it 
doesn’t make sense that they would have sought an alternative solution.  But it seems fairly 
clear, at least by implication, that by the time that this alleged assurance was given, plaintiffs 
must have been aware that the bank thought they were in default; there is no other evident 
reason why they would have been discussing the imminence of a foreclosure sale.  That 
awareness may cast some doubt on their assertions as to why they weren’t seeking an 
alternative at that time.  As a pleading matter, however, they allege that the assurance of no 
foreclosure sale was what led them to refrain from seeking an alternative.  That allegation is 
sufficient. 
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8th Cause of Action (Negligent Misrepresentation) 

The demurrer to the Eighth Cause of Action is sustained without leave to amend. 

This claim is essentially just a negligence-based variant on the seventh cause of action.  The 
alleged misrepresentation is that Plaintiffs that foreclosure would not take place as long as they 
were making the monthly payments.  (FAC, ¶ 58.)  In the first place, as noted above, there is a 
problem with plaintiffs’ allegation that they were making the monthly payments.  That aside, 
however, this is not an alleged misrepresentation of fact, but a promise to refrain from action.  
There is no such cause of action as negligent promissory fraud, for the good reason that a 
promisor cannot be negligent as to the truthfulness of its own promise.  (E.g., Stockton 
Mortgage, Inc. v. Tope (2014) 233 Cal.App.4th 437, 458.) 

9th Cause of Action (Fraudulent Concealment) 

The demurrer to the Ninth Cause of Action is sustained with leave to amend. 

This claim is way too vague and indefinite.  It does not identify with any particularity what facts 
were supposedly concealed from plaintiffs.  In part it may simply be the flip side of plaintiffs’ 
affirmative misrepresentation allegations, and to that extent it adds nothing.  Otherwise, it seems 
to assume that defendant was under some tort-based duty to advise plaintiffs of how to go about 
seeking relief from foreclosure.  Such a duty does arise from various provisions of HBOR, but 
there is no authority suggesting that there is any such duty as a matter of tort law.  (And again, 
the claim apparently rests on the assumption that plaintiffs were making their payments in full – 
which is both apparently untrue, and hard to square with a theory of how they weren’t advised 
how to get a modification.) 

10th Cause of Action (Breach of Contract) and 13th Cause of Action (Breach of Implied 
Covenant of Good and Fair Dealing) 

The demurrer to the Tenth and Thirteenth Causes of Action is sustained with leave to amend. 

In the first place, the FAC is indefinite in identifying the contract sued on.  They allege that a 
contract arose from the original loan; but defendant Caliber was not a party to that contract, 
whatever it was.  Nor do plaintiffs identify which provisions of the asserted contract were 
breached. 

As to breach, they allege that defendant breached the contract by mistakenly reporting that the 
mortgage was in default, and by foreclosing while plaintiffs were making timely payments.  As 
discussed above, however, there is a problem with the assertion that plaintiffs were making 
timely and adequate payments. 

Plaintiffs also assert that defendant breached the contract by unilaterally changing its terms.  
But with no allegation of what those terms were, or how defendant is accused of unilaterally 
changing them, there is no sufficient allegation of breach here. 

The additional cause of action for breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing adds 
nothing.  It identifies no way in which defendant prevented plaintiffs from performing or receiving 
the benefits of defendant’s performance, beyond asserting breaches of contract.  “[I]f the 
plaintiff's allegations of breach of the covenant of good faith ‘do not go beyond the statement of 
a mere contract breach and, relying on the same alleged acts, simply seek the same damages 
or other relief already claimed in a companion contract cause of action, they may be 
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disregarded as superfluous as no additional claim is actually stated.’ [Citation.]”  (Bionghi v. 
Metro. Water Dist. (1999) 70 Cal.App.4th 1358, 1370.)  

11th Cause of Action (UCL) 

The demurrer to the Eleventh Cause of Action is sustained with leave to amend.  This cause of 
action is simply derivative of the other causes of action in the FAC, asserting no independent 
basis for liability.  As the other causes of action all fail, necessarily this one does too. 

12th Cause of Action (Fraud/Deceit) 

The demurrer to the Twelfth Cause of Action is sustained without leave to amend. 

It is not at all clear what this claim is intended to add, over and above what is asserted in the 
various other fraud-related causes of action.  If it rests on the same alleged misrepresentations 
as the others, it is superfluous and duplicative.  It does not purport to identify any additional 
basis for liability, however.  It certainly alleges no particular or identifiable misrepresentations on 
which it rests. 

The Court denies leave to amend because there is no apparent reason why, if there are 
additional misrepresentations to be alleged, they would not be alleged in a single fraud count.  
The leave to amend granted as to the seventh cause of action includes leave to assert any 
fraudulent misrepresentations plaintiffs intend to allege. 

14th Cause of Action (Negligence) 

The demurrer to the Fourteenth Cause of Action is sustained with leave to amend. 

This claim, as pleaded, is simply a negligence wrapper around the various other causes of 
action included in the FAC, asserting no new or different basis for liability.  It therefore fails with 
the other claims. 

It is by no means clear that there could be any meaningful cause of action here for simple 
negligence.  Defendant argues that it owes no tort duty to plaintiffs.  But can hardly be debated 
that defendant owes a duty to comply with the requirements of the HBOR statute, whether a 
violation thereof is described as negligent or otherwise.  It likewise owes a duty not to make any 
fraudulent misrepresentations.  But if plaintiffs have valid causes of action for statutory violations 
or frauds, they can allege them as such – and they add nothing significant to their complaint by 
repackaging them as negligence.  Defendant has a fair point, however, in arguing that to the 
extent that plaintiffs are asserting any duty of care to themselves going beyond these 
independently pleaded legal bases, they can identify no basis on which defendant would owe 
such a duty of care as a matter of law.  The Court suggests that plaintiffs should not bother with 
trying to amend this cause of action unless they can put their fingers on something solid and 
actionable that is not already covered elsewhere in their pleading. 

Defendant’s request for judicial notice is granted, insofar as the documents adduced are offered 
because their existence is relevant.  The Court, however, does not take judicial notice of the 
truth of matters stated in the documents, such as the declaration of due diligence. 
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11.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-02259 
CASE NAME: ROBINSON VS. LBG HILLTOP 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR CONSOLIDATION WITH CASE NO. RS18-0864 
FILED BY PATRICK MARK ROBINSON 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The Court is saddened by the news of the death of plaintiff’s counsel.  As plaintiff has requested 
by fax, and defendant’s counsel has suggested by ex parte appearance, this demurrer and 
motion to consolidate will both be continued to March 29, 2019, at 9:00 a.m. 
 
The Court hopes that plaintiff will be able to locate new counsel promptly.  For guidance, 
however, the Court comments that plaintiff should not count on obtaining another continuance of 
these motions as a matter of course.  The law favors prompt disposition of unlawful detainer 
cases, including the Richmond case now stayed on account of this case.  Plaintiff should be 
prepared to address these motions on March 29, with or without a lawyer. 
 

  

12.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-02259 
CASE NAME: ROBINSON VS. LBG HILLTOP 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT 
FILED BY LBG HILLTOP, LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
See Line 11. 
 

  

13.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-02370 
CASE NAME: TURNER VS. WEBER 
HEARING ON OSC RE: PRELIMINARY HEARING OSC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 

 
The application of plaintiff, Robert L. Turner, for a preliminary injunction is denied.  Plaintiff has 
not established a sufficient probability of success to warrant granting the injunction or that the 
balance of hardships tips sufficiently in his favor. 
 
Plaintiff lodged some papers with the court on this motion on February 20 or 21, 2019.  If he did 
not serve them on the defendants and he wants them to be part of the record in this case, he 
must immediately serve and file them. 
 
In these lodged papers, plaintiff complains that the Opposition was not served on him by email 
or fax and that he wants additional time.  However, the file does not reflect any order requiring 
service by email or fax.  Therefore, under Code of Civil Procedure § 1005(c), service by 
overnight delivery was sufficient.  Furthermore, Code of Civil Procedure § 527(e) states, “The 
opposing party may, in response to an order to show cause, present affidavits relating to the 
granting of the preliminary injunction, and if the affidavits are served on the applicant at least 
two days prior to the hearing, the applicant shall not be entitled to any continuance on account 
thereof.”   Here, defendants served their Opposition on February 15, 2019, well more than two 
days before the March 1, 2019 hearing.  Therefore, no continuance is warranted. 
 
The hearing on the demurrer and the motion to strike will be held on March 22, 2019.  Plaintiff’s 
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Opposition must be filed and served on or before March 9, 2019.  If plaintiff has not received a 
copy of the moving papers, defendants shall provide a copy as soon as possible. 
 
On February 26, 2019, plaintiff filed a late Reply Brief.  It was due on February 22, 2019.  Even 
though plaintiff is representing himself, he is required to follow court rules, just as a represented 
party is.  (See Rappleyea v. Campbell (1994) 8 Cal.4th 975, 984.)  Late filings, particularly of 
Oppositions and Reply Briefs, are not merely technical violations of the rules of civil procedure.  
They make it difficult for the court to review the filings on time and address them in its rulings.  
Further, the Reply Brief is 14-15 pages long.  Reply Briefs may not exceed 10 pages.  (CRC 
3.113(d).)  Nevertheless, in its discretion, the court considers the Reply Brief and will address it 
at the end of this ruling. 
 
Turning to the merits:  This case arises out of a landlord-tenant dispute.  Plaintiff claims that 
after he was evicted, defendants refused to accept the amount he offered in full payment of 
what he owes.  Defendants have reported to credit reporting agencies that he owes more than 
he does.  Plaintiff has asked the court to issue an order “enjoining [defendants] from engaging in 
or performing the act of reporting an outstanding collection on the three credit bureaus of 
Transunion, Experian and Equifax.”  He further requests an order stating that “Defendants are to 
remove the derogatory collections from all three credit bureaus immediately… [and] not report 
the derogatory collection in an investigative report.”  (Order to Show Cause filed 2/13/19, ¶ 1.) 
 
Upon review of all the evidence, the court concludes that plaintiff has not established that 
defendants have misreported what he owes more. 
 
In the discussion that follows, any statements about the facts are made for purposes of this 
motion only.   
 
Facts 
 
Defendant Pennie Weber owns the real property located at 1392 Kubleck Way in Brentwood, 
California (the “Property”).  She is an absentee owner and uses a property management 
company to manage the Property, namely defendant Best Property Management, and its 
principal, defendant Ronald Ventura.  Defendant Hunter Warfield is a debt collector used by 
Best and Ventura.  As used herein, “defendants” refers to Best and Ventura, unless 
otherwise stated. 
 
On May 25, 2014, plaintiff, Turner, signed a one-year lease to rent the Property for $1,800 per 
month.  Turner also gave defendants a security deposit of $1,900.00. 
 
Turner alleges that within a few months after moving in he notified defendants that an electrical 
device was producing an odor.  (Complaint, ¶ 9, 10; see ¶ 15.)  However, defendants made no 
repairs. 
 
After May 2015, defendants did not renew the lease and it converted to a month-to-month 
tenancy.  (See Ex. 1 to Ventura Decl., Residential Lease, ¶ 2.B.) 
 
Turner and the other occupants at the Property (his daughter and his grandson) continued to 
experience problems with the electrical device in the summer of 2015, so Turner paid $159.11 
for a new device and deducted that cost from the September rent, thus paying only $1,641.89 
rather than $1,800.00.  (Complaint, ¶ 10, 15, 16, 17.)  Defendants asserted that Turner was not 
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entitled to deduct the $159.11.  On September 22, 2015, they served a notice to pay that 
amount or quit the premises.  When Turner failed to do either, they filed an Unlawful Detainer 
Action on September 29, 2015.  (See Ex. 2 to Ventura Decl., and ¶ 7 of that exhibit.) 
 
Turner tendered the full $1,800 due for October 2015, but defendants refused to accept it. 
 
On October 20, 2015, Commissioner Lowell Richards heard the Unlawful Detainer case.  He 
ruled that Turner had not properly used the repair and deduct remedy set forth in Civil Code § 
1942(a).  Commissioner Richards gave Judgment to Weber for possession of the Property, rent 
of $1,359.11 ($159.11 for September plus $1,200.00 for two-thirds of the month for October), 
attorney’s fees of $600.00 and costs of $340.00, for a total Judgment of $2,299.11.  (Ex. 3 to 
Ventura Decl.) 
 
Various other actions took place thereafter, including requests for a stay of execution, a new 
trial, and an appeal.  They are not germane here other than to explain why Turner did not 
ultimately surrender possession until December 2015. 
 
In his declaration, defendant Ventura says that he gave the security deposit accounting required 
by Civil Code § 1950.5 on January 11, 2016.  In his Verified Complaint, Turner alleges that he 
did not receive a security deposit accounting until he received an email on February 26, 2016, 
which would be later than the 21 days after he left the premises required by Civil Code 
§ 1950.5(g). 
 
In the security deposit accounting, defendants lumped together both the amounts due under the 
Unlawful Detainer Judgment, which included damages up to and including October 20, 2015, 
and damages incurred or posted thereafter.  The totals are: 
 
  Repairs     $   482.50 
  Cleaning     $   185.00 
  Storage fee     $   120.00 
  “Outstanding Amount”    $6,564.11 
 
  Total Charges     $7,351.61 
 
The “outstanding amount” includes all unpaid rent, including both the rent included in the 
Unlawful Detainer Judgment, and the post-judgment rent amounts asserted by defendants 
(but not adjudicated in any action).  Specifically, it includes rent of $159.11 in September, 
$1,800 for October and November, and $1,380 for December.  It also includes $1,100 in 
attorney’s fees ($600 of which was awarded in the Unlawful Detainer Judgment); a late fee; 
and a re-keying fee. 
 
Defendants then applied the security deposit of $1,900 to the total, leaving a balance due of 
$5,451.61 (including the Unlawful Detainer Judgment).  Later, defendants also received $1,980 
that plaintiff had paid to obtain two stays in execution of the Judgment.  Thus, defendants claim 
that plaintiff still owes $3,471.61, which includes the Unlawful Detainer Judgment of $2,299.11.  
On March 31, 2017 Turner received a demand letter from a debt collection company, defendant 
Hunter Warfield, requesting payment of that amount.  (Complaint, ¶ 31.)   
 
Turner responded by showing Hunter the Judgment for $2,299.  Subtracting the $1,900 security 
deposit from that figure, Turner thought he owed only $399 for the balance.  He tendered that 
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amount in a cashier’s check on May 4, 2017.  However, Hunter refused to accept that amount 
as full payment and returned the check. 
 
Sometime after December 1, 2015, Turner concluded that defendants’ actions were racially 
motivated and done intentionally to harm his ability to rent elsewhere, to obtain employment, 
and to obtain credit.  (Complaint, ¶ 26, 31.)  On an unknown date, he filed a complaint with the 
California Department of Fair Employment and Housing.  (Complaint, ¶ 5.)  They sent him a 
Notice of Case Closure dated December 2, 2016.  On April 24, 2017, he also filed a complaint 
with the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau. 
 
On November 20, 2018 plaintiff filed the complaint in this lawsuit, alleging that defendants 
caused him emotional distress and violated numerous statutes.  The sole identified cause of 
action in the complaint is for racial discrimination pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 3604.  A demurrer 
based on failure to state a cause of action, uncertainty, the statute of limitations, and Civil Code 
§ 47 will be heard on March 22, 2019. 
 
For purposes of the current motion, the court treats plaintiff’s claim as if it had been pleaded 
under Civil Code § 1785.25(a):  “A person shall not furnish information on a specific transaction 
or experience to any consumer credit reporting agency if the person knows or should know the 
information is incomplete or inaccurate.”  Section 1785.31(b) states, “Injunctive relief shall be 
available to any consumer aggrieved by a violation or a threatened violation of this title whether 
or not the consumer seeks any other remedy under this section [such as damages].” 
 
Plaintiff contends that defendants are violating this section because they are reporting he owes 
more than the amount of the Unlawful Detainer Judgment of $2,299.11, minus the $1,900 
security deposit and $50 that he paid for a garage door opener, for a total remaining due on that 
Judgment of $349.11.  His theory is that defendants were bound to apply the security deposit to 
the Unlawful Detainer Judgment rather than to the post Judgment rent and repair costs. 
 
Analysis 
 
A preliminary injunction may be granted where an act during litigation would produce great or 
irreparable injury, pecuniary relief would not afford adequate relief, or it would be extremely 
difficult to ascertain the amount of compensation that would afford adequate relief.  (Code of 
Civil Procedure § 526 (a)(2),(4),(5).)  The court should evaluate two interrelated factors when 
deciding whether to issue a preliminary injunction.  “The first is the likelihood that the plaintiff will 
prevail on the merits at trial.”  (Cohen v. Board of Supervisors (1985) 40 Cal.3d 277, 286.)  “The 
second is the interim harm that the plaintiff is likely to sustain if the injunction [is] denied as 
compared to the harm that the defendant is likely to suffer if the preliminary injunction [is] 
issued.”  (Cohen, supra.)  Regarding the first factor, the plaintiff must establish a “reasonable 
probability of success on the merits.”   (Jessen v. Keystone Sav. & Loan Ass'n (1983) 142 Cal. 
App. 3d 454, 459.)  “The trial court's determination must be guided by a ‘mix’ of the potential-
merit and interim-harm factors; the greater the plaintiff's showing on one, the less must be 
shown on the other to support an injunction.  (Butt v. State of California (1992) 4 Cal.4th 668, 
677-678.)  The plaintiff has the burden to prove all elements necessary to support issuance of a 
preliminary injunction.  (O'Connell v. Superior Court (2006) 141 Cal.App.4th 1452, 1481.) 
 
Under § 1785.25(a), defendants are liable only if they knew or should have known that they 
provided incomplete or inaccurate information to the credit bureaus.  Plaintiff has not proved 
they did.  Plaintiff has not submitted any proof concerning the information provided to Hunter 
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Warfield or the credit bureaus.  At best, he has only submitted evidence of the amount that 
Hunter Warfield demanded from him.  Further, he has not challenged the accuracy of that figure, 
$3,471.61, by proving its components and showing that one or more of them was intentionally or 
negligently wrong. 
 
Plaintiff’s argument rests on two related legal contentions.  He first argues that his security 
deposit could lawfully have been applied only to the unlawful detainer judgment, and not to post-
judgment items such as later rent.  He also argues or assumes that the only form of debt that 
could properly be reported to the credit reporting agencies is the balance of an actual judgment, 
as opposed to amounts that the creditor says are owing but has not sued on.  Both of his 
contentions are incorrect. 
 
Plaintiff has not cited any legal authority stating that unpaid damages claims that are not 
reduced to a judgment may not be reported to a credit reporting agency.  In fact, many of the 
things that are reported to credit reporting agencies are exactly that, e.g., things like delinquent 
credit card or store accounts. 
 
Further, plaintiff has not cited any legal authority requiring defendants to apply the security 
deposit to the Unlawful Detainer Judgment rather than to cleaning, repair cost, or holdover 
damages incurred afterwards.  No such limitation appears in the security deposit statute.  Civil 
Code § 1950.5(b) states that a “security deposit” is a payment or deposit “to be used for any 
purpose,” including but not limited to “(1) The compensation of a landlord for a tenant’s default in 
the payment of rent.  (2) The repair of damages to the premises ... caused by the tenant ... 
(3) The cleaning of the premises upon termination of the tenancy ....”  Thus, defendants were 
permitted to use plaintiff’s security deposit either to satisfy the Unlawful Detainer Judgment, 
which covered damages incurred on or before October 20, 2015, or to pay other damages 
plaintiff owed that accrued or were posted afterwards.   
 
Section 1950.5(e) states that the landlord “may claim of the security only those amounts as are 
reasonably necessary for the purposes specified in subdivision (b)” and subdivision (l) states 
establishes liabilities in the event of a “bad faith claim or retention by a landlord ... of the security 
or any portion thereof in violation of this section ....”  However, plaintiff has not submitted any 
evidence that he ever sought this remedy or that it is appropriate.  Even if the court were to find 
some timely request for it in the complaint, plaintiff has not submitted any evidence of a “bad 
faith claim or retention” regarding the security deposit.   
 
Subdivision (f)(1) describes a procedure for a pre-moveout inspection, but that is not required 
where the tenancy is terminated pursuant to a three-day notice to quit or pay rent.  (Civil Code 
§ 1950.5(f)(1) (“The requirements of this subdivision do not apply when the tenancy is 
terminated pursuant to subdivision (2), (3), or (4) of Section 1161 of the Code of Civil 
Procedure.”))  Thus, while the complaint does allege that a pre-moveout inspection was not 
offered (Complaint, ¶ 28), the statue says that none was required under the circumstances 
present here. 
 
In short, plaintiff has not established that he will probably prevail on his claim that defendants 
provided incomplete or inaccurate information to a consumer credit reporting agency, that 
defendants were required to apply his security deposit to the Unlawful Detainer Judgment, or, in 
the absence of that, that defendants were required to accept his offer to pay $399.11 or $349.11 
to satisfy the Judgment. 
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Further, the balance of hardships does not tip in plaintiff’s favor.  He is suffering hardship 
because he did not pay all the required rent for September 2015 and therefore suffered an 
unlawful detainer judgment that has been on record since October 2015.  He is suffering 
hardship because he owes Weber money and has not paid it.  He has not established he is 
suffering significant hardship because defendants have reported he owes one amount when he 
really owes another. 
 
For all these reasons, the request for a preliminary injunction is denied. 
 
In light of the basis for this ruling, the court finds it unnecessary to rule on any of defendants’ 
evidentiary objections. 
 
Plaintiff’s Late Reply Brief 
 
Plaintiff’s Late Reply Brief is not merely unhelpful to his position, it actually undermines it.  The 
Reply Brief states that the derogatory information has been removed from plaintiff’s records 
maintained by the credit reporting agencies.  Thus, plaintiff no longer needs at least half the 
relief he has requested.   
 
Plaintiff complains that he is still facing difficulties because he was evicted.  However, he was 
evicted because he chose to deduct $159.11 from the rent he owed for September 2015, and 
Commissioner Richards ruled he was not within his rights to do so.  As stated above, plaintiff 
now owes defendants for two separate things – the Unlawful Detainer Judgment and the repairs 
and rent accrued thereafter – and plaintiff has not established that defendants had a duty to 
apply the security deposit to the former rather than the latter.  So plaintiff’s statement that he 
paid the balance on the judgment (see Reply Brief at 3:18) is inaccurate.  He did not pay the 
entire Judgment, he only offered to pay it; and his offer included only part of the judgment. 
 
Plaintiff’s arguments about what each party has proved on his claim for racial discrimination is 
irrelevant to the current motion because the issue now is not whether he suffered any racial 
discrimination, but whether defendants have reported incomplete or inaccurate information to 
the consumer credit reporting agencies.  Even if the issue of racial discrimination were pertinent 
here, defendants have submitted evidence of a non-racial motive for their actions – plaintiff’s 
failure to pay the $159.11 when he paid his September rent, and his failure to do so again after 
he was served with a three-day notice. 
 
Plaintiff states he is not disputing the Unlawful Detainer Judgment, but is uncertain what he is 
obligated to pay, and to whom, to satisfy it.  The court suggest that the parties immediately 
engage in negotiation or mediation in this case, to determine whether they can resolve all their 
disputes, or at least agree on what it will take to satisfy the Judgment.  Possibly this is 
something that can be discussed on the date of the hearing on this motion as well. 
 
Plaintiff appears to believe he had reached a settlement with defendants to resolve his disputes 
for $349.11.  However, it appears to the court that no settlement may have been reached 
because plaintiff did not pay that amount unconditionally.  Rather, he added a condition.  By 
doing so, under contract law, it would appear that he did not accept an offer, but rather made a 
counteroffer.  Defendants then refused to accept that counteroffer.  That appears to be why the 
alleged settlement failed. 
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14.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL17-02748 
CASE NAME: BANK OF AMERICA VS. HOLLAND 
HEARING ON MOTION TO ENTER JUDGMENT PURSUANT TO STIPULATION 
FILED BY BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The unopposed motion for entry of judgment pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure § 664.6 is 
granted.  Judgment will be entered in favor of plaintiff against defendant in the amount of 
$6,511.68, including costs. 
 

  

15.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN10-1322 
CASE NAME: CLARK FRATUS VS. COUNTY OF CONTRA COSTA 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR ATTORNEY FEES AFTER 2nd REVERSAL ON APPEAL 
FILED BY CLARK FRATUS, KARLA FRATUS 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Petitioners’ motion for an award of attorney fees is granted in part, but only to the extent of 
$7,500 (which is uncontested).  It is denied otherwise. 
 
This case has had a lengthy journey, including two trips to the Court of Appeal and rotations 
through several Departments of this Court.  The back-story is detailed at length in the Court of 
Appeal’s first ruling, of August 23, 2017.  To make a long story short, in 2007 the County 
(specifically the Department of Conservation & Development, Building Inspection Division – 
hereinafter DCD) issued two Notices To Comply to petitioner homeowners, asserting that there 
were permitting problems with their use and occupancy of two adjoining properties in Oakley.  
The DCD never proceeded with any administrative or court actions to abate the alleged 
nuisance, however.  Instead, it issued fines totaling $12,900, and attached the properties. 
 
The present action began when petitioners filed for a writ of administrative mandate to compel 
DCD to set aside the fines.  The Court (Judge Brady) granted the petition in June 2011, 
determining that DCD’s actions were not supported by the weight of the evidence.  For reasons 
not now clear, however, final judgment on that decision was not entered until July 2015. 
 
Petitioners then moved to recover attorney fees under a number of statutory provisions.  The 
Court (Judge Fannin) denied the motion in December 2015, ruling that the motion was untimely 
and defectively supported.  The Court of Appeal reversed that ruling in August 2017, rejecting 
both of the stated bases for denial.  The court’s opinion concluded:  “The trial court’s order 
denying the Fratuses’ motion for attorney fees pursuant to [Government Code] section 800 is 
reversed.  The matter is remanded to the trial court to determine and award the reasonable 
attorney fees to which the Fratuses are entitled under section 800, subdivision (a).”  DCD now 
concedes that petitioners are entitled to an award of $7,500, the maximum allowed under § 800. 
 
On remand, petitioners renewed their request for an uncapped fee award under different 
statutory provisions, pointing out that neither Judge Fannin nor the Court of Appeal had ruled 
expressly on those fee claims.  This Court (Judge Austin) held that he was restricted by the 
Court of Appeal’s mandate, which authorized and directed a fee award only under § 800.  He 
accordingly awarded only $7,500. 
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Petitioners’ second appeal followed, and succeeded.  In a ruling dated September 28, 2018, the 
Court of Appeal acknowledged that it had not been as clear as it might have been in its 2017 
ruling.  It held that it had not intended in 2017 to limit this Court on remand to awarding fees only 
under § 800.  In particular, the 2018 opinion expressly allowed petitioners on remand to seek 
fees on the basis of Government Code § 25845 and County Ordinance § 14-6.426.  The Court 
of Appeal declined to express any further views on the merits of such a claim, noting that it had 
not yet been addressed in this Court or on the 2017 appeal.  It remanded the case to this Court 
for consideration of a fee claim under § 25845 and § 14-6.426.  (The Court further rejected 
petitioners’ arguments that they are entitled to more than $7,500 under § 800.  With 
unmistakable clarity, however, the Court of Appeal stated that any decision on remand must 
include at least that $7,500.  It also held that any claim to fees under Code of Civil Procedure 
§ 1021.5 was forfeited.) 
 
Thus, as far as the § 25845 claim goes, this Court now stands in essentially the same position 
as it did back in 2015 when petitioners first filed their attorney fee motion – except, of course, 
that the fees being sought now are substantially higher because of all the intervening activity.  
The question before the Court is whether petitioners are entitled to recover fees under § 25485.  
The Court must conclude, admittedly with some reluctance, that they are not. 
 
Section 25845(c) provides: 

 

A county may, by ordinance, provide for the recovery of attorneys' fees in any 

action, administrative proceeding, or special proceeding to abate a nuisance. If 

the ordinance provides for the recovery of attorneys' fees, it shall provide for 

recovery of attorneys' fees by the prevailing party, rather than limiting recovery of 

attorneys' fees to the county if it prevails.  The ordinance may limit recovery of 

attorneys' fees by the prevailing party to those individual actions or proceedings 

in which the county elects, at the initiation of that individual action or proceeding, 

to seek recovery of its own attorneys' fees.  In no action, administrative 

proceeding, or special proceeding shall an award of attorneys' fees to a 

prevailing party exceed the amount of reasonable attorneys' fees incurred by the 

county in the action or proceeding. 

 

The County’s § 14-6.426(c) carries out the invitation given in § 25845(c): 

 

Attorneys' fees may be recovered in a proceeding under this article if the county 

elects, at the initiation of the proceeding, to seek recovery of its own attorneys' 

fees.  If the county so elects, attorneys' fees will be recovered by the prevailing 

party.  In no proceeding shall an award of attorneys' fees exceed the amount of 

reasonable attorneys' fees incurred by the county in the proceeding." 

 

Thus, there are three requirements that must be met for an attorney fee claim under these two 

provisions.  First, the proceeding must be an “action, administrative proceeding, or special 

proceeding to abate a nuisance” (§ 25845(c)).  Second, the proceeding must be “a proceeding 

under this article” (§ 14-6.426(c)).  Third, it must be established that in the proceeding “the 

county elect[ed], at the initiation of the proceeding, to seek recovery of its own attorneys’ fees 

(§ 14-6.426(c)). 
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The key question is identifying exactly what is the “proceeding” in this case, of which this 

present court action is the culmination.  The parties put forward two competing candidates for 

that label.  Unfortunately for petitioners, however, neither theory leads to the result they seek.  

The problem is a fatal mismatch between which administrative acts constituted an abatement 

action, versus when the County first asserted a claim for attorney fees. 

 

Petitioners argue that the “proceeding” is the entire course of the DCD’s attempts to enforce the 

Building Code against these two properties, going back to the original 2007 Notices to Comply.  

Undoubtedly those Notices to Comply did commence a nuisance abatement action; they directly 

ordered petitioners to correct the alleged violations.  If there were any doubt on that score, it 

would be put to rest by the DCD’s Notice of Pending Nuisance Abatement Proceeding, recorded 

in December 2008.  Petitioners argue that the subsequent Administrative Penalty Notices of 

Fine (dated May 6, 2009) were simply the next enforcement step in the same nuisance 

abatement proceeding.  That argument finds support in the original Notices to Comply, which 

expressly recited that one of the possible actions the DCD might take in case of noncompliance 

was “Administrative Penalty Procedures”.  If this is correct, it would follow that this court action – 

seeking judicial review over assessment of those fines – is itself part and parcel of the original 

nuisance abatement proceeding started in 2007. 

 

But the problem with this theory is that if the proceeding at issue traces linearly back to the 

Notices to Comply in 2007, then the DCD did not seek recovery of its own attorneys’ fees “at the 

initiation of the proceeding”, as required by § 14-6.426(c).  The first mention of the DCD seeking 

to recover its attorney fees was in the Administrative Penalty Notices of Fine in May 2009. 

 

The DCD argues that the “proceeding” here was only its assessment of fines, divorced from its 

previous efforts to obtain abatement of the alleged nuisances.  It notes that under § 14-6.426(c), 

fees may be sought only “in a proceeding under this article”.  “This article” means Article 14-6.4 

of the County ordinances, called the “Uniform Public Nuisance Abatement Procedure, which 

expressly recites that it is “enacted pursuant to Government Code Section 25845” (§ 14-6.402).  

The fines assessed here, however, arose under a different provision of the County ordinances, 

namely Chapter 14-12.  (Article 14-6.4 is part of Chapter 14-6; Chapter 14-12 is not subdivided 

into Articles.)  The DCD concedes that it did seek to recover its own attorney fees “at the 

initiation of the proceeding” to collect administrative fines, namely in its Administrative Penalty 

Notices of Fine in May 2009.  But that, the DCD argues, was not a proceeding to abate under 

article 14-6.4.  (Not explained, in that case, is on what basis the DCD purported to threaten to 

collect its attorney fees in the Administrative Penalty Notices of Fine.  By its own present theory, 

there was no statutory or ordinance basis for the DCD to be able to do so.) 

 

The Court need not choose between these two theories, because they both lead to the same 

result:  Petitioners’ attorney fee claims must fail.  If the “proceeding” originated in 2007 with the 

Notices to Comply, then the claims fail because the DCD did not seek in 2007 to recover its own 

attorney fees.  Or, if the “proceeding” originated only in 2009 with the Administrative Penalty 

Notices of Fine, that necessarily assumes that the fine proceedings were separate and distinct 

from the nuisance abatement proceedings, and hence would not be within the coverage of 

§ 14-6.426(c). 
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Both sides’ requests for judicial notice are granted. 

 

  

16.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN19-0122 
CASE NAME: RE ANISA FULLER 
HEARING ON MINOR'S COMPROMISE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The proposed minor’s compromise is approved. 
 

  

17.  TIME: 10:00   CASE#: MS18-0688 
CASE NAME: BANK OF AMERICA VS. REZAPOUR 
SPECIAL SET HEARING ON: JURY TRIAL FOR UNLAWFUL DETAINER 
SET BY COURT 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
This has been continued by agreement. 
 

  

18.  TIME: 10:00   CASE#: MSC16-00609 
CASE NAME: HUNTER VS. V&A OIL 
JURY TRIAL - LONG CAUSE / 14 DAY(S) 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Counsel to appear (CourtCall OK) to discuss scheduling.  The Department is currently in 
another jury trial.  (And note that there are two trials set for today, and three more lined up for 
the rest of March.) 
 

  

19.  TIME: 10:00   CASE#: MSC16-01479 
CASE NAME: ROSE VS. CITY OF PITTSBURG 
JURY TRIAL - SHORT CAUSE / 5 DAY(S) 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The Court understands that the case has settled. 
 

 

 


